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DECISION 

Student filed a request for a due process hearing (complaint) with the Office of 

Administrative Hearings (OAH), State of California, on June 12, 2013, naming the 

Sacramento City Unified School District (District). On August 30, 2013, Student timely 

filed his second amended complaint and all applicable statutory timelines started over 

again. On September 27, 2013, the matter was continued for good cause. 

Administrative Law Judge Deidre L. Johnson heard this matter in Sacramento, 

California, on December 3, 4, and 5, 2013.  

Father represented Student. Student attended the hearing on the morning of 

December 4, 2013. Mother did not attend the hearing.1 OAH provided an interpreter 

who delivered Chinese translation services for Father throughout the hearing. 

                                                 

1 The evidence established that Student has two parents (referred to in this 

Decision as Parents) and that Mother has attended some of Student’s school meetings 

in the past. However, Mother did not testify or otherwise attend the hearing. 
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Daniel Osher, Attorney at Law, represented District. Becky Bryant, District’s 

Director of Special Education, attended the hearing on behalf of District. 

On December 5, 2013, the parties presented oral closing arguments, the record 

was closed, and the matter was submitted for decision. 

ISSUES2

2 The Administrative Law Judge has authority to redefine a party’s issues, so long 

as no substantive changes are made. (J.W. v. Fresno Unified School Dist. (9th Cir. 2010) 

626 F.3d 431, 442-443

 

1. During the 2011-2012 school year, did District deny Student a free 

appropriate public education (FAPE) because Student did not receive meaningful 

educational benefit? 

2. During the 2012-2013 school year, did District procedurally deny Student a 

FAPE by denying Parents meaningful participation in the educational decision-making 

process because it:  

(a) Failed to arrange mutually agreeable dates and times for Student’s 

individualized education program (IEP) team meetings; 

(b) Cancelled IEP team meetings; and/or 

(c) Failed to provide effective interpreter services for Parents during the IEP team 

meetings? 

3. Beginning on September 7, 2011, did District deny Student a FAPE by lying 

to Parents about, or misrepresenting the content of a September 2011 settlement 

agreement as it related to Student’s grade level? 

4. During the 2012-2013 school year, did District deny Student a FAPE 

because: 

                                                 

.) For purposes of this Decision, the issues have been reframed 

and reorganized for consistency with the applicable law. 
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(a) Student did not receive meaningful educational benefit; and/or 

(b) District failed to provide occupational therapy from January through June 

2013? 

SUMMARY OF THE DECISION 

Student contends that, for both the 2011-2012 and 2012-2013 school years, he 

has not made any academic progress because his grades are continually low, he 

performs at a very basic level, and he should be in a lower grade level classroom 

setting.3 Student also contends that, for the second half of the 2012-2013 school year, 

District failed to provide him occupational therapy as required by his IEP because 

Parents never received written verification for delivery of the services.  

3 The 2013-2014 school year is not at issue in this proceeding. 

Procedurally, Student claims he was denied a FAPE for the 2012-2013 school year 

because Parents were denied the opportunity to meaningfully participate in the IEP 

decision-making process. Father contends District failed to work with him to negotiate 

mutually agreeable dates and times for the IEP team meetings; unilaterally cancelled IEP 

team meetings; and failed to provide effective oral and written interpretation services 

for him at those meetings. In addition, Student contends that, beginning with a 

mediated settlement agreement in September 2011, District lied about, or 

misrepresented, the substance of the agreement as it related to Student’s grade level, 

which deprived Parent of meaningful participation, denied Student educational benefit, 

and accordingly denied Student a FAPE. Student requests that District be ordered to 

provide him reading and writing assistance including increased one-to-one tutoring; 

that the occupation therapy providers be ordered to document the provision of their 

services; and that be ordered to ensure the presence of a Chinese interpreter, at all IEP 

                                                 

Accessibility modified document



4 

 

team meetings, who is willing and able to interpret all verbal exchanges; and for District 

to ensure the translation of all IEP documents. 

On all claims, District denies that it has violated the laws or regulations pertaining 

to special education and denies that it has procedurally or substantively denied Student 

a FAPE. Procedurally, District contends that it has complied with the legal requirements 

to have an interpreter for Father at every IEP team meeting at which he has been 

present, and translated a document, the 2011 settlement agreement, into Chinese when 

Father requested it in the spring of 2013. District argues that Parents have never 

requested other documents to be translated for them, despite having received notice of 

their right to do so. Substantively, District contends that for both school years it has 

offered and provided Student specialized instruction and related services as set forth in 

his IEP’s, which have been designed to provide him meaningful educational benefit 

commensurate with his abilities and unique needs, based on comprehensive 

assessments done in the fall of 2011. 

This Decision finds that Student received a FAPE during fifth grade, for the 2011-

2012 school year, because he made significant progress, given his disabilities. It also 

finds that most of Student’s procedural claims about the 2012-2013 school year were 

not substantiated. However, District failed to provide Parents timely notice of the June 

2013 IEP team meeting. In addition, District failed to provide a written translation of its 

June 2013 IEP offer to Parents; thus Student’s claim that District failed to provide 

effective interpreter services was established. Since these procedural violations did not 

occur until the end of the school year, the substantive issue of whether Student was 

denied a FAPE during the 2012-2013 school year was reached. This Decision finds that 

District did not deny Student a FAPE for his sixth grade year. In addition, District did not 

fail to implement Student’s occupational therapy services from January through June 

2013.  
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FACTUAL FINDINGS 

BACKGROUND AND JURISDICTION 

1. Student is now 13 years old. He resides with Parents within the 

jurisdictional boundaries of District. Student is eligible for special education and related 

services under the primary educational category of disability called Autistic-Like 

Behaviors, and under the secondary category of Specific Learning Disability. Student has 

also been medically diagnosed with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD). 

Student’s educational records show that in 2010, Mother reported to an IEP team that a 

private psychologist had medically diagnosed Student with autism, while another private 

psychologist had diagnosed him with a pervasive developmental disorder, not otherwise 

specified (PDD-NOS).4 Student attended kindergarten and elementary school in District. 

He is currently in seventh grade at a middle school in the District, in a specialized 

communicative disorder-special day class program for the majority of the time, with 

some mainstreaming in the general education setting. 

4 During the hearing, Father claimed that Student did not have autism, citing an 

Alta California Regional Center assessment report, in which he was diagnosed with PDD-

NOS. However, PDD-NOS is a disorder on the autism spectrum.  

2. In 2011, Parents filed a request for a due process hearing with OAH, 

bearing OAH Case Number 2011050674. On September 7, 2011, in connection with a 

confidential mediation facilitated by OAH, Father and District settled that case. At that 

time, Student was in fifth grade and Father was critical of Student’s lack of progress. 

Father wanted District to agree to transfer Student back into third grade. District 

objected that such a regression would not be educationally appropriate. Ms. Bryant 

persuasively testified that, during the negotiations, District offered to advance Student’s 

triennial assessments which were due in April 2012, and to do the assessments and hold 
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an IEP team meeting by mid-December 2011. The case settled and the terms of the 

settlement agreement were reduced to writing in English. The interpreter at the 

mediation read and orally translated the settlement agreement into Chinese before 

Father signed the agreement. However, no written translation was prepared. A copy of 

the agreement in English was provided to Father that day. As a result of the settlement, 

District agreed to conduct triennial assessments of Student to obtain updated 

information as to his levels of academic and functional performance, and to provide 

Student with three hours of tutoring a week.  

FAPE FOR THE 2011-2012 SCHOOL YEAR 

Student’s Unique Needs, Progress, and the December 2011 IEP 

3. District completed Student’s triennial assessments as provided in the 

settlement agreement and held an IEP team meeting on December 19, 2011, which 

involved both an annual and triennial IEP team meeting. District provided Father with a 

Chinese interpreter for the meeting. Mother did not attend the meeting. Ms. Bryant, 

District’s special education director, was present, along with Jacki Glasper, a program 

specialist; the school psychologist, Student’s special education teacher, a general 

education teacher, a school principal, and a language and speech therapist. The results 

of Student’s assessments were discussed and Father was provided copies of the 

assessment reports in the English language.5 District assessors reported Student’s levels 

of academic and functional performance which reflected his areas of strength and deficit 

and demonstrated what unique areas of need Student’s IEP should address. While 

Father consented to the IEP that was developed, at hearing he disagreed with Student’s 

needs, placement, and services.  

5 The appropriateness of District’s assessments is not at issue in this proceeding.  
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4. Student’s classroom teacher Rae Suzanne Odekirk holds a master’s degree 

in speech pathology and audiology and holds a clinical rehabilitative services credential 

which allows her to teach special day classes for pupils with disabilities. She has been a 

teacher for communicatively disabled pupils in District since 1991, including many pupils 

with autism related disorders. Most of the 15 or so pupils in Ms. Odekirk’s class had 

average to above average nonverbal cognitive skills with severe communication 

discrepancies. She taught Student during his fourth, fifth, and sixth grade years in a 

small, structured environment with at least one aide. Ms. Odekirk testified and 

established that when she began teaching Student in fourth grade, he read and wrote at 

a prekindergarten level, and had significant delays in his pragmatic language skills. 

Student had significant difficulties in focusing and attending, establishing relationships 

with his peers, and he often sought negative attention. At some point prior to 

September 2011, Ms. Odekirk also began tutoring Student for three hours a week, 

focusing on his reading skills. 

5. By the time of the December 2011 IEP team meeting, when Student was in 

fifth grade, District members of the team reported that Student had met his annual IEP 

reading comprehension goal to formulate predictions from text read to him, and was 

using second grade decodable stories with 70 percent accuracy. Student had also met 

his decoding/phonological awareness goal to spell and decode words with long vowel 

sounds with at least 90 percent accuracy, at a third grade level with prompting and 

redirection. Student continued to have difficulty with spelling but had made substantial 

progress with his handwriting. In math, an area of relative strength, Student was 

functioning at a fourth grade level, with "scaffolding" (incremental steps) toward a fifth 

grade math curriculum, although the curriculum was modified. Student’s ADHD 

manifested as he was impulsive, fidgety, or "extremely energetic," lacked focus, and still 
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needed redirection, although at a lesser daily rate. Student had difficulty playing 

cooperatively with peers but liked school and attended regularly.  

6. District school psychologist Wani Bhatti conducted Student’s triennial 

psychoeducational assessment over four days in November and December 2011, and 

presented a written report at the December 2011 IEP team meeting. Ms. Bhatti’s 

assessment showed that Student avoided eye contact most of the time but was 

cooperative and maintained sufficient attention to complete the tests. The 

psychoeducational assessment showed that Student’s cognitive abilities are in the 

average or low average range with some uneven variability in scores on three 

standardized tests.  

7. During the hearing, Father repeatedly stated that District had failed to 

teach Student how to read, needed to do more to improve Student’s reading skills, and 

should have moved Student to a lower grade level. However, the 2011 triennial 

assessment showed that Student has significant auditory processing and sensory motor 

skill deficits. These processing deficits were reported on several assessment tests 

administered by the school psychologist. On the Comprehensive Test of Phonological 

Processing, which measures skills necessary for mastery in reading and written language, 

Student obtained a "very poor" standardized score of 67, at the first percentile in 

phonological awareness, which relates to the sound structure of language. For 

phonological memory, which is the ability to remember how sounds and letters go 

together, Student obtained a "poor" score of 70, at the second percentile. And, for rapid 

naming, which is the ability to efficiently retrieve phonetic information necessary for 

reading fluency, Student obtained a "very poor" standardized score of 49, below the first 

percentile, meaning that more than 99 percent of his peers have higher levels of skill. On 

the Test of Word Reading Efficiency, Student again scored poorly, below the first 
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percentile for sight word efficiency, and at the first percentile for phonemic decoding 

efficiency.  

8. Student’s processing disorder, along with his ADHD and autistic behaviors, 

contributed to his lowered academic performance on the standardized academic test 

administered by Ms. Odekirk, the Woodcock-Johnson III Tests of Achievement, Third 

Edition. On this test, he scored in the average and low average ranges in math 

calculation and reasoning, respectively; but scored at or below the first percentile in 

reading comprehension, and written expression. The school psychologist, Ms. Bhatti, 

found that Student was basically functioning about two years below his grade level in 

both of those areas. Student needed some one-to-one instruction, repetition, and 

reinforcement in reading.  

9. Regarding Student’s fine motor and sensory motor skill deficits, District 

contracted with a nonpublic agency, Jabbergym Inc., to provide occupational therapy 

services. For the December 2011 IEP team meeting, the provider’s occupational 

therapist, Mandie Boone, conducted an assessment, including clinical observations and 

a standardized test, and submitted a written report at the meeting. Student scored in 

the below average ranges in the areas of fine manual control and manual coordination. 

Ms. Boone reported to the December 2011 IEP team that Student had made "substantial 

progress" over the prior year with his handwriting but still had difficulties with correct 

letter formation, word and letter spacing, and correct line placement when not given a 

model to copy. In the area of sensory processing, Student appeared calmer after 15 to 

20 minutes of "challenging heavy work activities" at the beginning of his therapy 

sessions. 

10. Student had made some progress on his occupational therapy goals. The 

writing goal was changed from creating and copying four sentences on a given topic to 

creating and writing five sentences on a topic without the use of a model. Regarding 
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Student’s attention to task, the therapist reported he had made substantial progress on 

his annual goal to remain seated during a 20-minute table top task, but still needed 

more than two verbal prompts to do so. However, Student demonstrated he was able to 

participate at the table, and the goal was changed from just sitting through the activity 

to actively participating in it, with no more than two verbal prompts. 

11. Student’s triennial language and speech assessment was conducted by 

Allyson Bailey, a speech and language pathologist, in November and December 2011, 

and she submitted in a written report to the IEP team. Ms. Bailey administered 

standardized tests and, in the areas of expressive, receptive, core language and 

language memory, Student scored at or below a percentile ranking of .01 percent, well 

below two standard deviations from the mean scores, and was rated as having a "very 

low range of functioning." In addition, he scored in the low range on a pragmatic profile.  

12. After the IEP team discussion of the assessments and update information 

about Student’s progress, District made Student an annual offer for his continued 

eligibility, and continued educational placement in fifth grade in a specialized 

communicative disorder-special day class. The above assessment results and scores led 

both the school psychologist and the IEP team to find that Student had a severe 

discrepancy between his cognitive abilities and his academic performance in reading 

and writing, and continued to display several behaviors related to autism which 

impacted his performance. He therefore continued to qualify for special education 

under the categories of Specific Learning Disability and Autistic-Like Behaviors.6 At 

                                                 
6 Eligibility for special education in the category of Specific Learning Disability 

requires proof of two things. First, the pupil must have a disorder in one or more of the 

basic psychological processes involved in understanding or in using language, spoken 

or written, which may manifest itself in the imperfect ability to listen, think, speak, read, 

write, spell, or perform mathematical calculations. Second, there must be a severe 
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discrepancy (at least one point five standard deviations) between intellectual ability and 

achievement in at least one academic area as shown on standardized tests.  

hearing, Father did not recall or understand what Specific Learning Disability was, and 

did not understand its correlation to Student’s reading deficits.  

13. The December 2011 IEP offered Student an appropriate educational 

placement and services that were consistent with his assessments. The IEP offered that 

Student would remain in Ms. Odekirk’s class, at a fifth grade level, for 360 minutes daily; 

with occupational therapy once a week for 60 minutes; both individual and group 

language and speech therapy for 30 minutes a session, 50 times during the annual 

period; accommodations, modifications, and supports; and extended school year 

services for the summer of 2012. It also addressed Student’s need for one-to-one 

instruction by offering him tutoring before school. The IEP addressed Student’s deficits 

as documented in the assessments by having annual goals in the areas of sensory 

processing, attention, handwriting, participation, reading fluency, reading 

comprehension, punctuation, and social communication. District’s tutoring offer was 

that Student would receive three hours of tutoring a week until the next annual IEP team 

meeting in December 2012, except not during the extended summer school. 

14. The IEP team determined, and the evidence established that Student had 

made significant progress in moving from a prekindergarten level in fourth grade to a 

second grade reading level in fifth grade, and that he had made progress in most other 

areas as well, even though he had not met all of his annual goals. Father consented to 

the IEP by signing the IEP, which was written in English.  

Student’s Progress Through the End of the 2011-2012 School Year 

15. From the time the December 2011 IEP was approved and implemented, 

through the end of the 2011-2012 school year, including the 2012 extended summer 
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school session, the evidence supports a finding that Student continued to make slow 

and meaningful educational progress, given the significant nature of his disabilities. Ms. 

Odekirk established that her class was a language-rich environment which provided the 

children a lot of visual supports, vocabulary development, role playing, and scaffolding 

activities. She was credible in describing Student’s active participation and success in her 

math class. During her English language arts class, Student actively participated in a 

lengthy project involving a story about "100 pennies," in which he created a memory 

book with his Mother’s participation over several months.  

16. In the settlement agreement, District had agreed to provide three hours of 

tutoring a week only until the December 2011 IEP team meeting. As found above, at 

that meeting, District offered to continue the tutoring at the same rate for the ensuing 

year as an IEP offer of FAPE. This offer reflected the IEP team’s determination and 

consensus that Student required extra tutoring in order to receive a FAPE, due to his 

need for increased one-to-one instruction, repetition, and reinforcement, particularly in 

reading.  

17. For the 2011-2012 school year, Ms. Odekirk provided Student’s tutoring 

three times a week, for an hour each time, before school started. She also asked Mother 

to come in to learn the sight word reading vocabulary she was teaching Student so the 

lessons would carry over into the home, and Mother cooperated. Ms. Odekirk was 

convincing that the tutoring made a significant impact in both Student’s academic and 

functional performance. She was also persuasive that this amount of tutoring was 

sufficient and that more hours of weekly tutoring would not be beneficial for Student. 

His attention and focus deficits due to his autistic disorder and ADHD make one-to-one 

instruction both rewarding and difficult, as it requires his intense concentration. She was 

convincing that to burden Student with increased tutoring would be counterproductive 

if not harmful. 
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18. Ms. Odekirk credibly described and established Student’s significant 

behavior issues when he started in her class in fourth grade, including conflicts with his 

peers and inappropriate silly remarks, lack of attention and focus, continual need for 

redirection and one-to-one attention, lack of self esteem, and lack of experience with 

feeling successful. In fifth grade, most of these behaviors had significantly lessened 

although Student still needed a lot of redirection, and he was becoming more confident. 

His pragmatic skills had increased but he still required maximum cues and his social 

communication goal was therefore continued.  

19. Father believed that Student had not made any educational progress 

because his report card grades were consistently "below basic." Father claimed Student 

did not belong in fifth grade if he could not perform fifth grade work, and was therefore 

in the wrong class for the 2011-2012 school year. Father believed that the only measure 

of progress he needed to look at was Student’s grades.  

20. Ms. Odekirk established that District’s grading system showed Student as 

performing "below basic" in most areas for purposes of its standard report cards, which 

did not make allowance for modified curriculums for pupils with disabilities. She and 

other District witnesses, including District’s special education director, Ms. Bryant, 

established that Student’s educational program and measures of progress are controlled 

by his IEP and his annual IEP goals, and not by District’s standard grading system.  

21. Student did not present any evidence to rebut District’s evidence of his 

progress during fifth grade other than his report card grades and his low levels of 

reading and writing skills. The evidence established that Student continued to receive 

educational benefit through the end of the 2011-2012 school year as provided in his IEP. 

22. Ms. Odekirk also testified about how well Student progressed during sixth 

grade for the 2012-2013 school year. However, before Student’s claim of a substantive 
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denial of FAPE for that school year may be evaluated, Student’s procedural claims for 

that school year must first be evaluated.  

PROCEDURAL VIOLATIONS DURING THE 2012-2013 SCHOOL YEAR 

Scheduling IEP Team Meetings at Mutually Agreeable Times 

23. Following the December 2011 IEP team meeting, Student’s next IEP team 

meetings were scheduled for December 14, 2012, and January 24, March 1, May 24, and 

June 7, 2013. Student claims that District failed to schedule these meetings on dates and 

at times that were mutually agreeable to Father.  

24. Ms. Bryant, as the director of special education for District, and the 

director of District’s Special Education Local Plan Area (SELPA), is responsible to oversee 

the legally compliant functioning of the special education department for not less than 

6,100 pupils identified as children with qualifying disabilities on IEP’s for their education. 

Each of these pupils is entitled to not less than an annual IEP team meeting. Ms. Bryant 

is well-qualified as a school administrator with many years of education, training, and 

experience, including as a classroom teacher. 

25. Ms. Bryant delegated the scheduling and handling of Student’s IEP team 

meetings to Ms. Glasper, the program specialist. IEP team meeting dates are initially 

selected by the program specialists based on their schedules and the schedules of 

District members of the IEP team. All of District’s IEP team meeting notices for Parents 

as found below contained Ms. Odekirk’s name and telephone number as the contact 

person. The forms all included boxes Parents could check to indicate they required the 

assistance of an interpreter (with a blank line to fill in the language), or that they 

requested a different time or place. District did not have the meeting notices translated 

into Chinese for Parents because, to its knowledge, Parents had not requested Chinese 

translations of any of Student’s IEP records or notices. There is no evidence that either 
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Father or Mother returned the meeting notice forms for any of these IEP team meetings 

signed with any of the above boxes checked one way or the other.  

DECEMBER 14, 2012 IEP TEAM MEETING 

26. Ms. Glasper set Student’s next annual IEP team meeting for December 14, 

2012, and had a meeting notice prepared by staff and mailed to Parents by U.S. mail on 

November 16, 2012. The notice was a prepared form in English with fill-in blanks and 

check boxes.  

27. Ms. Odekirk testified that when Mother dropped Student off at school in 

the morning for tutoring, she would speak with Mother in English, and Mother would 

respond in English. Ms. Odekirk generally confirmed with Mother the dates and times of 

IEP team meetings. For the December 2012 IEP team meeting, Ms. Odekirk reminded 

Mother of the meeting and asked to confirm her attendance. Mother informed her she 

would not attend as Father had decided to attend the meeting instead. Ms. Odekirk 

tried to persuade Mother to attend as she was familiar with Student’s IEP and Ms. 

Odekirk was very excited about Student’s progress. She called the home to confirm the 

presence of Parents but Father hung up the phone on her.  

28. District began the IEP team meeting on December 14, 2012, and Father 

was present, along with an interpreter, Millie Lee, supplied by District. Father appeared 

at the IEP team meeting because he understood it was scheduled for that date and time. 

There is no evidence that Father was unavailable, had a scheduling conflict that made 

attending this meeting difficult for him, or that he attempted to reschedule the meeting. 

He appeared at the meeting and, as found below, refused to complete the meeting 

without Ms. Bryant’s presence. District agreed to continue the December 14, 2012 IEP 

team meeting to a later date at Father’s request because Ms. Bryant was not present. 

The specific date to which the meeting would be continued was not agreed upon in that 

meeting. The meeting was adjourned without accomplishing any IEP review for Student 
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JANUARY 24, 2013 IEP TEAM MEETING 

29. On January 15, 2013, District caused a written IEP team meeting notice in 

English to be prepared and mailed to Parents for a meeting on January 24, 2013. The 

notice listed Ms. Bryant as one of the participants. District retained an interpreter who 

called the family, and Father indicated he was not available on that date, but was 

available on January 23, or 25, 2013. District verbally agreed to reschedule the meeting 

for an unknown time on January 23, 2014. However, earlier on that date, Ms. Odekirk 

tripped and fell, suffered a broken rib, and required emergency medical assistance. 

Parents were notified that the meeting was cancelled and no IEP team meeting was 

convened. Father claimed District deliberately cancelled the meeting, as found below.  

MARCH 1, 2013 IEP TEAM MEETING 

30. On January 31, 2013, District caused a written IEP team meeting notice in 

English to be prepared and mailed to Parents for a meeting on March 1, 2013. On 

February 7, 2013, District sent a second, revised IEP team meeting notice to Parents for 

the same date, which added the names of Ms. Bryant and Ms. Bailey as identified 

participants. On March 1, 2013, the IEP team meeting was convened, and the evidence 

showed that Father attended, along with interpreter John Lee, and District members of 

Student’s IEP team.  

31. Although Father claimed District arbitrarily set this meeting and did not 

work with him as to his scheduling needs, he did not present any evidence that he had a 

scheduling conflict for March 1, 2013, or that District failed to work with him or honor 

any scheduling conflicts regarding this meeting. As found below, Ms. Bryant terminated 

the meeting after Father continued to argue about various matters. This was a 

contentious meeting and it was adjourned without starting or completing Student’s 

annual IEP review. 
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MAY 24, 2013 IEP TEAM MEETING 

32. District thereafter called the Parents to attempt to reschedule an IEP team 

meeting for Student before the end of the school year. Father hung up the telephone on 

Ms. Odekirk and would not schedule a date. On May 9, 2013, District caused a written 

IEP team meeting notice in English to be prepared and mailed to Parents for a meeting 

on May 24, 2013, again for the purpose of conducting Student’s tabled annual IEP team 

meeting. Mr. Lee, the interpreter, called Parents to remind them of the meeting. Father 

stated he would not attend the meeting but did not provide a reason either to Mr. Lee 

or at hearing. He stated he would attend an IEP team meeting after Student started 

middle school in the fall. 

33. There is no evidence that District provided Mr. Lee with a copy of the 

actual IEP team meeting scheduling notice to have him translate the document into 

Chinese for Parents. There is no evidence that Mr. Lee was aware of the provision on the 

form that provided Parents could request a different date or time, or that he discussed 

that option with Father when he spoke with him on the telephone. Mr. Lee testified that 

he understood his job was to inform Father to attend the meeting. He did not translate 

the meeting notice for Father but merely told him he should attend the meeting. 

34. Father testified that Mr. Lee ordered him to attend an IEP team meeting 

but it was not clear if he was referring to the May 2013 IEP team meeting, or a different 

time period in September 2013, when Mr. Lee telephoned Parents to explain that they 

should attend another meeting in District. Father testified that he was never given a 

choice about the IEP meeting dates set by District. However, in light of the fact that 

Father did successfully request a change in the date for the January 2013 IEP team 

meeting, his testimony on this point is not credible. 

35. Father does not work outside the home during the day. He presented no 

evidence as to why he did not agree to attend the IEP team meeting set for May 24, 
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2013, such as whether he had a bona fide conflict and was unavailable; or why he did 

not call Ms. Glasper, Ms. Odekirk, or Ms. Bryant to ask to reschedule the meeting. 

Because Father declined to attend, District cancelled the meeting. 

JUNE 7, 2013 IEP TEAM MEETING 

36. On June 6, 2013, District caused a written IEP team meeting notice in 

English to be prepared and mailed to Parents for a meeting on June 7, 2013, listing Ms. 

Bryant as an invited participant. Ms. Odekirk testified that she usually called Parents or 

spoke with Mother at school to remind them of scheduled IEP team meetings but there 

is no evidence whether she did so for the June 2013 meeting. There is no evidence that 

District attempted to conduct the meeting with Parents over the telephone.  

37. The IEP team meeting was held on the scheduled date without Parents. 

There is no evidence that Parents were aware of, or afforded the opportunity to attend 

the meeting or to negotiate for a different date. District mailed a copy of the June 7, 

2013 IEP in English to Parents to solicit their consent, and they did not sign the IEP. 

Cancelling IEP Team Meetings 

38. As found above, District convened Student’s annual IEP team meeting on 

December 14, 2012, and Father attended the meeting. All required IEP team participants 

were present, along with an interpreter. Ms. Bryant was not a required member of the 

IEP team and was not present. The first paragraph of the written scheduling notice 

informed Parents as follows: "You have the right to have other individuals present who 

have knowledge or special expertise relating to the above student." Ms. Bryant’s name 

was not listed on the notice and neither Parent asked District in advance to arrange for 

her to attend the meeting. Ms. Bryant was credible in her testimony that prior to 

December 14, 2012, she was not aware Father wanted her to attend Student’s IEP team 

meetings and that she had not previously agreed to do so. 
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39. District made a good faith attempt to conduct the annual IEP team 

meeting to review Student’s then-present levels of academic achievement and 

functional performance and review his IEP services and goals as required by law. 

However, Father did not permit that discussion to take place. He refused to participate 

in the meeting unless District’s special education director, Ms. Bryant, attended the 

meeting, because he claimed to have an agreement with Ms. Bryant that included her 

attendance at Student’s IEP team meetings.7 In addition, Father asserted that Ms. Bryant 

had not honored aspects of the 2011 mediated settlement agreement which included 

an academic assessment, tutoring, and a lowered grade level placement. He claimed 

Student was not performing at a sixth grade level, and should not be moved to middle 

school for the following school year. District members reminded Father of the prior 

school year, which had included assessments and an IEP team meeting in December 

2011.  

7 Because Ms. Bryant had attended Student’s December 2011 IEP team meeting 

to ensure continuity with the terms of the settlement agreement, Father assumed she 

would continue to attend Student’s IEP team meetings.  

40. Ms. Glasper, District’s administrative representative at the meeting, offered 

Father a choice to go ahead and discuss his concerns and Student’s progress, or to 

continue the meeting to secure Ms. Bryant’s appearance. Since Father insisted on Ms. 

Bryant’s presence, the meeting was terminated at his request. District cooperated with 

Father to continue the IEP team meeting. 

41. As found above, the next scheduled IEP team meeting on January 24, 

2013, was cancelled because Student’s special education teacher was required by law to 

attend the meeting and was unavailable due to a broken rib. District telephoned Parents 

and informed them of the cancellation. 
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42. The IEP team meeting on March 1, 2013, began and quickly deteriorated. 

As found above, Ms. Bryant unilaterally terminated the IEP team meeting after repeated 

attempts to obtain Father’s cooperation to discuss Student’s performance levels, rates of 

progress, and the appropriateness of his IEP. The record established that District IEP 

team members attempted for over an hour to communicate with Father and obtain his 

consent to proceed with the meeting, with the assistance of the services of the 

interpreter, Mr. Lee. Father insisted, during that meeting, and at hearing, that he was 

talking about Student’s education program because he complained about District’s 

failure to remove Student to a lower grade level as allegedly agreed to in the settlement 

agreement. Regardless of the merits of the argument, Father refused to cooperate to 

listen to the other team members provide valuable information about how Student was 

doing in his program and to formulate his overdue annual IEP. 

43. Parents did not attend the June 2013 IEP team meeting. Since the meeting 

was not cancelled, it is not relevant to this limited procedural claim about District 

unilaterally cancelling IEP team meetings. 

Lying About or Misrepresenting Terms of the 2011 Settlement Agreement 

44. At hearing, Father’s testimony on this issue is reframed and summarized as 

follows: District, and Ms. Bryant in particular, either deceived him about the content of 

the 2011 settlement agreement, or changed its content to eliminate an agreed-upon 

provision to lower Student’s grade level; and, as a result, Student has therefore been 

denied a FAPE because he lost educational benefit, and Father’s right to meaningfully 

participate in the IEP decision-making process was thereby significantly impeded. Father 

believes that District deliberately cancelled or terminated the December 2012, and 

March and May 2013 IEP team meetings to prevent him from asking questions about 

why District has not honored the agreement, and why they will not retain Student in 

elementary school.  
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45. At the December 2012 IEP team meeting, Father accused District of not 

following through with terms of the 2011 settlement agreement as found above. At the 

March 2013 IEP team meeting, Ms. Bryant asked Mr. Lee to translate it into Chinese for 

Father but Mr. Lee refused because that was not his assignment. Ms. Bryant therefore 

read the settlement agreement out loud and Mr. Lee translated or interpreted her words 

into Chinese. Father then claimed the agreement had been altered and Ms. Bryant was 

not telling the truth because what he understood was that District had agreed to move 

Student back into a lower grade and that provision was no longer in the settlement 

agreement.  

46. Ms. Bryant provided credible and persuasive testimony that District, which 

she represented during the mediation on September 7, 2011, did not agree with Father’s 

request to remove Student from fifth grade and return him to a third grade class. 

Instead, in order to compromise with Father, District offered to advance Student’s 

triennial assessment that was otherwise due by April 2012. District’s settlement focus 

was that objective assessment data would show whether Student was appropriately 

placed in fifth grade, or whether he should be retained at a lower grade level. Because 

Ms. Bryant understood from the existing information that Student was making progress 

in a specialized class with modified curriculum, she hoped the assessments would show 

Parents that Student did not need to be retained behind.  

47. Father’s testimony on this point was confusing. He provided no 

explanation for waiting so long to complain that District failed to implement an 

agreement to remove Student to a lower grade. Although Father asserted he had earlier 

complained about not getting a written translation of the document, District denied 

receipt of such a communication. Father did not appear to recall or understand that he 

consented in writing to the December 2011 IEP offer, which did not offer to remove 

Student to a lower grade because the assessment results showed positive progress in 
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his program. In addition, Father failed to consider whether he might have 

misunderstood something during the mediation process. Because the settlement 

agreement had not been translated in writing, Father had only his memory and the 

English version of the agreement he had originally received. There was no provision to 

lower Student’s grade level in the agreement. 

Ineffective Interpretation Services 

48. As found above, Student’s primary or native language is Cantonese, a 

Chinese dialect. However, Student’s primary or dominant language at school has been 

and is English. Student testified at hearing and did not hesitate to answer questions 

asked in English without the assistance of an interpreter. Student’s IEP’s have designated 

English as his language for purposes of his education. Both Parents speak some limited 

English. However, there is no question that Father required and utilized the services of 

an interpreter during the hearing to understand the proceedings. In addition, whenever 

Mother or Father attended an IEP team meeting for Student, District consistently 

provided the services of an interpreter for them. 

49. At the beginning of every IEP team meeting for Student, Ms. Glasper, 

District’s program specialist, provided Parents with two written notices of their 

procedural safeguards: one in English and one in Chinese. The notices included 

advisements that Parents have a right to receive prior written notice in their native 

language, and that they have a right to understand the proceedings and provide 

informed consent, including being provided with an interpreter.  

50. Ms. Glasper established that it was her practice to present the Parents’ 

Rights form to parents at the beginning of an IEP team meeting and then ask them if 

there were any questions. She opined that "prior written notice" included the pupil’s IEP 

document formulated during an IEP team meeting even though the Parents’ Rights form 

did not say that. She also asserted that the fact that parents have a "right" to have prior 
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written notice in their native language meant that the parents had to assert that right by 

asking for a translation. Ms. Bryant confirmed that District’s policy is to provide 

translations on request, which she believed was consistent with the law.  

51. The evidence established that, at each of the IEP team meetings at issue in 

this case where Father participated, Ms. Glasper provided him with copies of the Parents’ 

Rights notices in both English and Chinese, and asked through the interpreter whether 

Father had any questions. There is no evidence that Father ever asked any questions. 

However, there is also no evidence that District provided Father time at the IEP team 

meeting to read the notice or to have the interpreter read it to him. District personnel 

who testified uniformly stated that neither Mother nor Father ever requested Student’s 

records, including his IEP’s, to be translated into Chinese until this year.  

52. Father testified passionately at hearing that he has consistently asked for 

documents to be translated into Chinese, including the 2011 settlement agreement. In 

connection with the March 2013 IEP team meeting, Father requested a written 

translation of the agreement which was successfully communicated through the 

interpreter. District finally delivered a written translation of the agreement to Parents in 

June 2013. 

53. While this issue is limited to the 2012-2013 school year, the events 

involving both the settlement agreement and the December 2011 IEP team meeting are 

relevant and informative. District did not provide Parents with written translations of the 

settlement agreement, any of Student’s 2011 triennial assessment reports, or the 

December 2011 IEP. As of the time of the hearing, District had not provided Parents with 

written translations of any of Student’s IEP’s. Student’s December 2011 IEP was still his 

operative IEP at the time of the hearing. It is 74 pages long, including the assessment 

reports. The triennial psychoeducational report itself is 10 pages and filled with complex 

charts, scores, and assessment data. The language and speech report is three pages, and 
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the occupational therapy report is five pages. The portion of the IEP containing 

Student’s goals, including progress reports on his prior goals, comprises 23 pages. In 

addition, the triennial assessment plan is included in the IEP. It is in English, and bears 

the signatures of Ms. Bryant and Father dated September 7, 2011, the day of the 

settlement. It was apparent during the hearing that Father was either not aware of, or 

did not recall most of the IEP’s contents. 

54. Ms. Glasper testified credibly and persuasively that, at the December 2011 

IEP team meeting, all of Student’s triennial assessment reports were discussed orally 

with Father. She confirmed that the gist of each report was explained to Father, with the 

assistance of the interpreter, as was the team’s discussion. Ms. Glasper was confident 

that the Chinese interpreter was interpreting the discussion due to the pace and length 

of the translations. She was confident Father understood because he asked questions 

and responded appropriately. Father did not inform her that he did not understand 

something, or indicate that the interpretation of something was incomplete or not 

satisfactory. Ms. Glasper established, as verified in her brief IEP meeting notes, that 

Student’s levels of performance and functioning were "reviewed." However, there was 

no evidence that Parents were provided any of the evaluations in advance of the 

meeting. Nor was there any evidence that the interpreter at the meeting was directed to 

orally translate the precise contents of each report to Father. Rather, each assessor orally 

described and summarized her report, and that oral summary was interpreted for Father.  

55. For the December 2012 and March 2013 IEP team meetings, District also 

utilized Chinese interpreters for Father. At hearing, Father attempted to ask Mr. Lee 

questions about what occurred at the March 2013 IEP team meeting. Mr. Lee was 

deliberately vague in his responses, and claimed not to recall much of anything. He at 

first denied any recollection of refusing to translate a document on Ms. Bryant’s 

computer and then later recalled it. There was evident animosity between Father and the 
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interpreter. Mr. Lee had difficulty with both Father and Mother in attempting to 

communicate with them by telephone when he called to inform them of IEP team 

meetings, including their hanging up on him. Mr. Lee presented with a formal demeanor 

that leant credibility to Father’s claim that Mr. Lee "ordered" him to attend meetings. Mr. 

Lee viewed Father as "argumentative" but insisted he did his job to interpret and 

summarize what was said at the meetings. However, he did not recall Father informing 

him when he could not understand something. His testimony on this point was also not 

credible. In addition to Mr. Lee’s asserted lack of recall, it was inconsistent with Father’s 

demeanor and utilization of the services of his interpreters during three days of hearing, 

where he often asked a question about something that was translated or requested a 

clarification.  

56. District mailed the June 7, 2013 IEP offer to Parents as they had not 

attended the IEP team meeting held on that date. The IEP was in English with no written 

Chinese translation. The IEP was 30 pages in length and contained updated progress 

reports on Student’s academic and functional performance and his goals, and an offer of 

placement and services including a transition to middle school. It also included the IEP 

team meeting notes for the December 2012 and the March 2013 IEP team meetings that 

had been prepared by Ms. Glasper. Although District claimed at hearing that it was a 

draft, the word "draft" was not present on any page of the document and the claim was 

not credible. Father established that when he received the June 2013 IEP in the mail, it 

was accompanied by a written request for Parents to consent to it. By this time, since 

Father believed District had altered the 2011 settlement agreement, he would not 

consent to the IEP in its English version. In his second amended request for hearing, 

Father requested that all IEP documents should be "interpreted into Chinese" and stated 

that he would sign documents only when he fully understood their contents. 
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FAPE FOR THE 2012-2013 SCHOOL YEAR 

Meaningful Educational Benefit 

57. Student remained in Ms. Odekirk’s special day class for pupils with 

communicative disorders for the 2012-2013 school year in sixth grade. The only 

evidence that Student may not have progressed educationally is that his report cards 

continued to show he was still performing below basic. 

58. However, as noted in Factual Findings 3 through 21, above, District 

established that Student’s progress is measured by his IEP, assessments, and annual 

goals. Ms. Odekirk was convincing that Student continued to make good progress in 

sixth grade and she was very proud of his accomplishments. Student’s reading decoding 

and fluency showed significant growth from his prekindergarten scores in fourth grade. 

Ms. Odekirk had assured Student she would not call on him in class as he was shy and 

quiet. In sixth grade, however, Student asked to read out loud, so they practiced during 

tutoring, and Student successfully read to the class. Student’s behaviors had 

dramatically changed as well. He actively participated in class with fewer instances if 

inappropriate comments. He was performing at a proficient level in fifth and sixth grade 

level math. Ms. Odekirk had seven 6th graders in her class, including Student, and she 

worked to prepare them for the transition to seventh grade, including taking them on a 

field trip to the junior high school. She was convincing that it would be harmful to 

Student’s self esteem and punitive to return him to a lower grade level.  

59. At the December 2012 and March 2013 IEP team meetings, the team had 

not reviewed Student’s IEP and progress due to Father’s insistence on discussing the 

settlement agreement. Following Father’s refusal to attend the May 2013 IEP team 

meeting, District was concerned that Student was transferring into middle school in the 

fall. Student was entering into seventh grade and since his annual IEP, that was originally 

due in December 2012, had never been completed, the data regarding Student’s levels 
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of performance and progress toward his goals was a year and a half old, and would not 

provide his new school with accurate information. In addition, fast approaching the end 

of the school year, District wanted to address Student’s needs for extended school 

services for the 2013 summer.  

60. As found above, Parents were not aware of and did not attend the IEP 

team meeting held on June 7, 2013. Ms. Glasper attended as District representative, 

along with Student’s special education teacher, Ms. Odekirk, and Ms. Bailey, Student’s 

speech therapist. At this meeting, District members of Student’s IEP team found that he 

still required redirection and sensory breaks, but had made meaningful progress. 

Student had made modest progress in reading fluency in sixth grade, moving from a 

beginning second grade, to a mid-second grade level. His math scores ranged from 

basic to proficient at a fifth grade level. He continued to have difficulty establishing 

appropriate relationships with his peers and needed redirection to stay focused on 

tasks, although he required less redirection than in the previous year. He still required 

tutoring before school, frequent breaks, and sensory breaks. District’s IEP offered that he 

remain in Ms. Odekirk’s special day class for communicatively disabled pupils for the 

remainder of the 2012-2013 school year, continue to receive language and speech 

therapy 15 times over the next year at 30 minutes per session,8 and occupational 

therapy once a week for 60 minutes a session, along with extended summer school 

services. District IEP team members’ consensus was that Student was capable of, and 

was offered a transition to middle school for the 2013-2014 school year. District did not 

8 The June 2013 IEP justified the lowered amount of Student’s language and 

speech services from those in the prior IEP due to the "shortened year" covered by the 

IEP but the calculations were not explained at hearing. There was no evidence District 

intended to actually reduce the services. 
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recommend to retain him in elementary school, and the offer was reasonably based on 

Student’s progress and chronological age. Ms. Bryant was persuasive not only because 

of Student’s progress but because of his size and age. She had observed Student’s 

physical appearance and demeanor when he appeared at hearing to testify. Student is 

tall and is now a teenager at the age of 13. 

Delivery of Occupational Therapy Services 

61. Father’s claim that District did not deliver Student’s IEP occupational 

therapy services to him from January through June 2013, is based on Father’s prior 

experience receiving weekly documentation of Student’s therapy, and his failure to ask 

the any District questions about its continued delivery of the services in the absence of 

documentation. 

62. As found above, occupational therapist Mandie Boone had conducted 

Student’s November 2011 triennial occupational therapy assessment, reported his levels 

of performance and progress, and recommended further annual goals and services 

which Father accepted. The December 2011 IEP provided Student occupational therapy 

once a week for 60 minutes. At that time, and through December 2012, Student was 

transported by bus from the school site to the therapy and then returned to school. 

Because Student left the custody and control of the school, the provider gave written 

documentation for each therapy session to District and Student in the form a copy of 

the log entry note made by the therapist to memorialize each session. Parents relied on 

receipt of the log notes to be assured Student received the therapy.  

63. Occupational therapist Barbara Cameron testified at the hearing and 

produced copies of the provider’s log notes for Student’s therapy sessions. Ms. Cameron 

obtained a master’s degree in occupational therapy in 2000, holds an occupational 

therapy license, and has been Student’s primary occupational therapist for over a year. 

Ms. Cameron established, through the log notes that the provider faithfully delivered, 
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Student’s occupational therapy every week school was in session from September 13, 

2012, through the end of July 2013. She was persuasive that the logs were made in the 

normal course of the provider’s delivery of services to Student at or near the time of 

each session. Beginning in January 2013, the provider went to the school site to deliver 

Student’s occupational therapy. After the services moved onto the school campus, 

Student was no longer transported, there was no change of physical custody, and the 

provider did not need to give Student a copy of the log note to take back to school and 

Parents to document the therapy. It therefore stopped providing copies of the log 

notes.  

LEGAL CONCLUSIONS 

INTRODUCTION – LEGAL FRAMEWORK UNDER THE IDEA9

9 Unless otherwise indicated, the legal citations in the introduction are 

incorporated by reference into the analysis of each issue decided below.  

 

1. This hearing was held under the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act 

(IDEA), its regulations, and California statutes and regulations intended to implement it. 

(20 U.S.C. § 1400 et. seq.; 34 C.F.R. § 300.1, et seq.; Ed. Code, § 56000, et seq.; Cal. Code. 

Regs., tit. 5, § 3000 et seq.)10 The main purposes of the IDEA are: (1) to ensure that all 

children with disabilities have available to them a FAPE that emphasizes special 

education and related services designed to meet their unique needs and prepare them 

for employment and independent living, and (2) to ensure that the rights of children 

with disabilities and their parents are protected. (20 U.S.C. § 1400(d)(1); see Ed. Code, § 

56000, subd. (a).)  

                                                 

10 All references to the Code of Federal Regulations are to the 2006 version 

unless otherwise stated.  
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2. A FAPE means special education and related services that are available to 

an eligible child at no charge to the parent or guardian, meet state educational 

standards, and conform to the child’s IEP. (20 U.S.C. § 1401(9); 34 C.F.R. § 300.17; Cal. 

Code Regs., tit. 5, § 3001, subd. (p).) "Special education" is instruction specially designed 

to meet the unique needs of a child with a disability. (20 U.S.C. § 1401(29); 34 C.F.R. § 

300.39; Ed. Code, § 56031.) "Related services" are transportation and other 

developmental, corrective, and supportive services that are required to assist the child in 

benefiting from special education. (20 U.S.C. § 1401(26); 34 C.F.R. § 300.34; Ed. Code, § 

56363, subd. (a). [In California, related services are also called designated instruction and 

services.].) In general, an IEP is a written statement for each child with a disability that is 

developed under the IDEA’s procedures with the participation of parents and school 

personnel that describes the child’s unique needs related to his or her disability, 

academic and functional goals to meet those needs, and a statement of the special 

education, related services, and program modifications and accommodations that will 

be provided for the child to advance in attaining the goals, make progress in the general 

education curriculum, and participate in education with disabled and non-disabled 

peers. (20 U.S.C. §§ 1401(14), 1414(d); Ed. Code, § 56032.)  

3. In Board of Education of the Hendrick Hudson Central School District v. 

Rowley (1982) 458 U.S. 176, 201 [102 S.Ct. 3034, 73 L.Ed.2d 690] (Rowley), the Supreme 

Court held that "the ‘basic floor of opportunity’ provided by the [IDEA] consists of access 

to specialized instruction and related services which are individually designed to provide 

educational benefit to" a child with special needs. Rowley expressly rejected an 

interpretation of the IDEA that would require a school district to "maximize the 

potential" of each special needs child "commensurate with the opportunity provided" to 

typically developing peers. (Id. at p. 200.) Instead, Rowley interpreted the FAPE 

requirement of the IDEA as being met when a child receives access to an education that 
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is reasonably calculated to "confer some educational benefit" upon the child. (Id. at pp. 

200, 203-204.) The Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals has held that despite legislative 

changes to special education laws since Rowley, Congress has not changed the 

definition of a FAPE articulated by the Supreme Court in that case. (J.L. v. Mercer Island 

School Dist. (9th Cir. 2010) 592 F.3d 938, 950 [In enacting the IDEA 1997, Congress was 

presumed to be aware of the Rowley standard and could have expressly changed it if it 

desired to do so.].) Although sometimes described in Ninth Circuit cases as "educational 

benefit," "some educational benefit" or "meaningful educational benefit," all of these 

phrases mean the Rowley standard, which should be applied to determine whether an 

individual child was provided a FAPE. (Id. at p. 950, fn. 10.) 

4. The IDEA affords parents and local educational agencies the procedural 

protection of an impartial due process hearing with respect to any matter relating to the 

identification, evaluation, or educational placement of the child, or the provision of a 

FAPE to the child. (20 U.S.C. § 1415(b)(6); 34 C.F.R. 300.511; Ed. Code, §§ 56501, 56502, 

56505; Cal. Code Regs., tit. 5, § 3082.) The party requesting the hearing is limited to the 

issues alleged in the complaint, unless the other party consents. (20 U.S.C. § 

1415(f)(3)(B); Ed. Code, § 56505, subd. (i).) At the hearing, the party filing the complaint 

has the burden of persuasion by a preponderance of the evidence. (Schaffer v. Weast 

(2005) 546 U.S. 56-62 [126 S.Ct. 528, 163 L.Ed.2d 387]; see 20 U.S.C. § 1415(i)(2)(C)(iii) 

[standard of review for IDEA administrative hearing decision is preponderance of the 

evidence].)  

ISSUE 1: DURING THE 2011-2012 SCHOOL YEAR, DID DISTRICT DENY 

STUDENT A FAPE BECAUSE HE DID NOT RECEIVE MEANINGFUL EDUCATIONAL 

BENEFIT? 

5. Student contends that for the 2011-2012 school year, he did not show any 

academic improvement, thereby proving that District failed in its obligation to provide 
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education to him, and denied him a FAPE. District argues that Student received 

meaningful educational benefit for that school year both academically and functionally.  

6. An IEP is to be evaluated in light of information available at the time it was 

developed and offered, and is not to be evaluated in hindsight. (Adams v. State of 

Oregon, (9th Cir. 1999) 195 F.3d 1141, at 1149.) The Ninth Circuit has endorsed the 

"snapshot rule," explaining that "[a]n IEP is a snapshot, not a retrospective." (Ibid.) The 

IEP must be evaluated in terms of what was objectively reasonable when it was 

developed. (Ibid; Christopher S. v. Stanislaus County Off. of Ed. (9th Cir. 2004) 384 F.3d 

1205, 1212; Pitchford v. Salem-Kaiser School Dist. No. 24J (D.Ore. 2001) 155 F.Supp.2d 

1213, 1236.) To determine whether a school district offered a pupil a FAPE, the focus is 

on the appropriateness of the placement offered by the school district, and not on the 

alternative preferred by the parents. (Gregory K. v. Longview School Dist. (9th Cir. 1987) 

811 F.2d 1307, 1314.) 

7. School districts must evaluate a pupil’s progress on his goals on an annual 

basis, including determining whether the pupil has made expected progress and 

whether the goals should be revised. (34 C.F.R. § 300.324(b).)  

Measuring Benefit and Progress  

8. The factual showing required to establish that a pupil has received some 

educational benefit under Rowley is not demanding. For a pupil in a mainstream class, 

"the attainment of passing grades and regular advancement from grade to grade are 

generally accepted indicators of satisfactory progress." (Walczak v. Florida Union Free 

Sch. Dist. (2d Cir. 1998) 142 F.3d 119, 130.) In Rowley, the Court found that some 

educational benefit had been conferred on the pupil since she achieved passing marks 

and advanced from grade to grade. (Rowley, supra, 458 U.S. at pp. 202-203.) However, 

the Court cautioned that it was not establishing any one test for measuring the 

adequacy of educational benefits conferred under an IEP. (Id. at pp. 202, 203 fn. 25.) 
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9. A district is not required to guarantee that a pupil will make one month’s 

academic progress given a month’s instruction. A pupil derives benefit when he 

improves in some areas even though he fails to improve in others. (See, e.g., Fort 

Zumwalt Sch. Dist. v. Clynes (8th Cir. 1997) 119 F.3d 607, 613; Carlisle Area School v. 

Scott P, (3rd Cir. 1995) 62 F.3d 520, at 530.) He may be deriving benefit while passing in 

four courses and flunking in two. (Cypress-Fairbanks Indep. Sch. Dist. v. Michael F. by 

Barry F. (S.D.Tex. 1995) 931 F.Supp. 474, 481.) A showing of progress does not require 

that a D-student become a C-student and thus rise in relation to his peers. Progress may 

be found even when a pupil’s scores remain severely depressed in terms of percentile 

ranking and age equivalence, as long as some progress toward some goals can be 

shown. (Coale v. Delaware Dept. of Educ. (D.Del. 2001) 162 F.Supp.2d 316, 328.)  

10. Student did not introduce any evidence to show that his operative IEP for 

the beginning of the 2011-2012 school year prior to the December 2011 IEP team 

meeting was defective or denied him a FAPE. Student did not introduce any evidence to 

show that District’s offer of placement and services made at the December 2011 IEP 

team meeting did not meet his unique needs or was not reasonably calculated to deliver 

some meaningful educational benefit to him at the time the offer was made, except for 

Student’s low academic grades and his low reading and writing abilities. District’s 

December 2011 IEP was developed with up-to-date information on his then-current 

levels of academic achievement and functional performance after a comprehensive 

triennial assessment.  

11. Father did not present any qualifications to support his opinions. He is not 

a professional educator or assessor and did not appear to understand either Student’s 

disabilities or his IEP programs and services. Father’s claim that Student made no 

academic progress was based solely on Father’s misplaced reliance on District’s report 

card grades, which showed Student performing at a level below basic, including reading 
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at a second grade level in fifth grade. In math, although Student was performing fourth 

grade math with some links to fifth grade math, his math curriculum was nevertheless 

modified. Father’s insistence that a child who reads at a second or third grade level 

should remain in that grade level reflects his misunderstanding about how special 

education programs operate. If that were the case, then children with significant 

disabilities who have grown and matured physically into teenagers would be on school 

campuses with kindergarten pupils. This would not only be inappropriate but dangerous 

to the younger pupils. Special education strives to provide age-appropriate, as well as 

developmentally-appropriate individualized and specialized programs so pupils with 

significant disabilities can grow and mature with their peers, experience the achievement 

of measures of success commensurate with their abilities, and transition to a productive 

adulthood.  

12. In addition, Father’s opinion did not give Student any recognition for the 

significant progress he had made under Ms. Odekirk’s instruction and tutelage. When 

Student began in Ms. Odekirk’s classroom in fourth grade, he was reading at a 

prekindergarten level. By the middle of his fifth grade year, Student was reading at a 

beginning second grade level and he continued to show progress thereafter. Father’s 

emphasis on the fact that Student did not read fluently at a fifth grade level emphasized 

Father’s disappointment, rather than Student’s progress. The evidence showed that 

Student’s self esteem and confidence would be damaged by requiring him to regress in 

grade levels, and that it would be inappropriate for Student to be placed in a classroom 

with significantly younger and smaller children. Now that Student is in seventh grade in 

middle school, Father’s request to return him to elementary school would have a 

punitive and damaging effect. 

13. The record shows many explanations for Student’s levels and rates of 

progress, most of which were documented in District’s triennial assessment completed 
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in 2011. While Student’s cognitive abilities are mainly in the average and low average 

range, he has a significant auditory processing disorder which impairs his ability to 

process oral language and information and significantly impairs his reading and written 

expression skills. In addition, Student’s autistic disorder also negatively impairs his ability 

to excel in his education, including his sensory deficits and difficulties in social and 

pragmatic communication. Father’s complaint that Student’s reading delays are District’s 

fault, or that District could and should remediate Student’s deficits by putting him in a 

lower grade level class, and tutoring him until he was able to catch up to a grade level 

commensurate with his age, is unfounded.  

14. Student did not meet his burden of proving that District deprived him of 

meaningful educational benefit during the 2011-2012 school year.  

ISSUES 2(A): DURING THE 2012-2013 SCHOOL YEAR, DID DISTRICT 

PROCEDURALLY DENY STUDENT A FAPE BY DENYING PARENT MEANINGFUL 

PARTICIPATION IN THE DECISION-MAKING PROCESS BECAUSE IT FAILED TO ARRANGE 

MUTUALLY AGREEABLE DATES AND TIMES FOR HIS IEP TEAM MEETINGS? 

15. Student contends that, during the 2012-2013 school year, while he was in 

sixth grade in Ms. Odekirk’s special day class for pupils with communicative disorders, 

District failed to schedule his IEP team meetings on dates and times mutually agreeable 

to Parents. District argues that it stood ready to work with Parents if any particular date 

or time for an IEP team meeting was a problem for them, but received no such 

information except on one occasion, when District cooperated and rescheduled the 

meeting. 

Procedural Violations 

16. There are two parts to the legal analysis of whether a school district 

offered a pupil a FAPE: whether District has complied with the procedures set forth in 

the IDEA, and whether the IEP developed through those procedures was substantively 
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appropriate. (Rowley, at 206-07.) Procedural flaws do not automatically require a finding 

of a denial of FAPE. A procedural violation does not constitute a denial of FAPE unless 

the procedural inadequacy (a) impeded the child’s right to a FAPE; (b) significantly 

impeded the parent’s opportunity to participate in the decision making process 

regarding the provision of FAPE; or (c) caused a deprivation of educational benefits. (20 

U.S.C. § 1415(f)(3)(E)(i) & (ii); Ed. Code, § 56505, subd. (j); W.G. v. Board of Trustees of 

Target Range School Dist. No. 23 (9th Cir. 1992) 960 F.2d 1479, 1483-1484.)  

Parental Participation 

17. Parents are required and vital members of the IEP team. (20 U.S.C. 

§ 1414(d)(1)(B)(i); 35 C.F.R. § 300.344(a)(1); Ed. Code, § 56341, subd. (b)(1).) The IEP team 

must consider the concerns of the parents for enhancing their child’s education 

throughout the child’s education. (20 U.S.C. § 1414(c)(1)(B) [during assessments], 

(d)(3)(A)(i) [during development of the IEP], (d)(4)(A)(ii)(III) [during revision of an IEP]; Ed. 

Code, § 56341.1, subds. (a)(1) [during development of an IEP], (d)(3) [during revision of 

an IEP], & (e) [right to participate in an IEP].) The requirement that parents participate in 

the IEP process ensures that the best interest of the child will be protected, and 

acknowledges that parents have a unique perspective on their child’s needs, since they 

generally observe their child in a variety of situations. (Amanda J. ex rel. Annette J. v. 

Clark County School Dist. (9th Cir. 2001) 267 F.3d 877, 891.) 

18. California law requires the school district to give the parents notice of the 

IEP team meeting early enough to ensure an opportunity to attend. (Ed. Code, § 56341.5, 

subd. (b).) The law also requires the IEP team meeting to be scheduled at a mutually 

agreed-upon time and place. (Ed. Code, § 56341.5 (c).) A district may hold an IEP team 

meeting without a parent in attendance if District is unable to convince the parent that 

he or she should attend. (Ed. Code, § 56341.5, subd. (h).) However, if a district holds a 

meeting without the parent in attendance, it must "maintain a record of its attempts to 
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arrange a mutually agreed-upon time and place" such as detailed records of telephone 

calls made or attempted, or copies of correspondence sent to the parent. (34 C.F.R. § 

300.322(d); Ed. Code, § 56341.5, subd. (h); see Shapiro v. Paradise Valley Unified School 

Dist., No. 69 (9th Cir. 2003) 317 F.3d 1072, 1077-1078.) 

PARENTAL COOPERATION IN THE IEP PROCESS 

19. The Supreme Court has noted that the IDEA assumes parents, as well as 

school districts, will cooperate in the IEP process. (Shaffer v. Weast, supra, 546 U.S. at 53 

[noting that "[t]he core of the [IDEA] ... is the cooperative process that it establishes 

between parents and schools"]; see also, Patricia P. v. Bd. of Educ. of Oak Park (7th Cir. 

2000) 203 F.3d 462, 468 [parents who failed to cooperate to make their child reasonably 

available for evaluation forfeited right to reimbursement for private placement]; Clyde K. 

v. Puyallup School Dist., No. 3 (9th Cir. 1994) 35 F.3d 1396, 1400, fn. 5 [rejecting a "my 

way or the highway" approach by parents' attorney].) Parents who refuse to cooperate in 

a district's efforts to formulate an IEP are generally not entitled to relief. (See, e.g., Loren 

F. v. Atlanta Indep. Sch. Sys. (11th Cir.2003) 349 F.3d 1309, 1312; M.M. v. Sch. Dist. of 

Greenville Cty. (4th Cir.2002) 303 F.3d 523, 535; M.S. v. Mullica Tp. Bd. of Educ. (D.N.J. 

2007) 485 F.Supp.2d 555, 568 [denying reimbursement because parents failed to 

cooperate in completion of IEP]; E.P. v. San Ramon Valley Unified School Dist. (N.D.Cal., 

June 21, 2007, Case No. C05-01390) 2007 WL 1795747, pp. 10-11 [nonpub. opn.].) When 

parental non-cooperation obstructs the process, courts usually hold that violations do 

not deny the pupil a FAPE. (See C.G. v. Five Town Community School Dist. (1st Cir. 2008) 

513 F.3d 279.)  

20. The evidence established that when Father was unable to attend the IEP 

team meeting scheduled for January 24, 2013, he requested the date to be changed, 

offered two different dates, and District rescheduled the IEP team meeting for January 

23, 2013, instead. The fact that Father requested a date change for the January 2013 IEP 
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team meeting established that Parents knew they could negotiate with District for a 

different date, and did so. This evidence thus defeats Father’s claim that Parents did not 

know they could negotiate with District to change the dates of Student’s other IEP team 

meetings, or know that the English version of District’s IEP team scheduling notice 

contained a provision inviting parents to communicate their requests for different dates.  

21. Father did not present any evidence that he had a bona fide conflict with 

respect to the scheduled IEP team meeting dates of December 14, 2012, or March 1, 

2013. Father appeared at those IEP team meetings because he understood that the 

meetings were scheduled via the scheduling notice, Mother’s verbal communications 

with Student’s teacher, and/or an interpreter’s telephone call to Parents at the request 

of District. As to the IEP meeting scheduled on May 24, 2013, Father refused to attend 

and did not present any evidence of a scheduling conflict or attempt to negotiate a 

different date.  

22. As to the scheduling of the June 7, 2013 IEP team meeting, however, 

Student sustained his burden to establish that District’s scheduling notice dated June 6, 

2013, did not provide Parents with any reasonable advance notice of the meeting to 

ensure Parents’ opportunity to attend the meeting or negotiate a different date. There 

was no evidence that the notice was delivered in any manner other than District’s 

customary mailing of notices to Parents. Even assuming a one-day delivery of the mail 

to Parents, there was no evidence they received their daily mail before the time 

scheduled for the meeting. The law is clear that District is entitled to conduct an IEP 

team meeting without the parent so long as it has made bona fide, documented 

attempts to schedule it with Parents. District did not comply with the law by scheduling 

and conducting this meeting without documentation of any attempts to schedule it, 

because they made no such attempts with regard to this meeting.  
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23. Based on the foregoing, District committed a procedural violation when it 

failed to provide Parents sufficient notice of the June 2013 IEP team meeting to enable 

them to be aware of the meeting, plan to attend, and negotiate any change in the date 

or time of the meeting.  

24. District contends it should be excused for its failure to make attempts to 

provide Parents with reasonable advance notice of this meeting, and a fair opportunity 

to negotiate scheduling, based on Father’s lack of cooperation at the December 2012 

and March 2013 IEP team meetings his refusal to attend the May 2013 IEP, and his 

stated intent not to attend another IEP team meeting until Student transferred into 

middle school.  

25. As noted in Legal Conclusion 18, above, a district is entitled to hold an IEP 

team meeting without the parents if they maintain a detailed record of reasonable 

attempts to communicate and mutually negotiate an agreeable date and time. Here, 

District noticed four prior IEP team meetings, had to cancel one due to the teacher’s 

injury, experienced Father’s lack of cooperation and obstruction at two of them, and 

received his refusal to attend the fourth meeting or any further IEP team meeting until 

Student’s fall school year. District was required by law to have an IEP in place when 

school started in the fall. Student’s IEP had expired in December 2012, and District had 

no updated data on his goals and progress to deliver to the middle school. District’s IEP 

scheduling notice dated May 6, 2013, gave Parents ample time to plan to attend or 

negotiate another mutually agreeable date or time for the May meeting. When Mr. Lee 

reported Father refused to come, however, there was no evidence District made any 

further attempts to engage Parents in dialogue. District’s decision to schedule another 

IEP team meeting in June 2013 was reasonable. However, their decision that Parents had 

somehow forfeited the right to receive proper notice of the meeting did not comply 

with the law. 
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26. District should have given Parents adequate notice of the June 2013 IEP 

team meeting along with further attempts to communicate the importance of the 

meeting. District therefore committed a procedural violation. Student did not establish 

that his right to a FAPE was impeded or that he suffered a deprivation of educational 

benefit as a result of this violation as his December 2011 IEP was still implemented.  

27. As to Parents, however, this violation impeded their opportunity to 

participate in the June 2013 IEP team meeting, or negotiate another date or time, as the 

meeting was held without any timely notice to them or attempts to communicate with 

them. Accordingly, District significantly impeded Parents’ right to participate in 

Student’s IEP decision-making process, and therefore denied Student a FAPE. As noted 

in Legal Conclusions 30, 32, and 33 below, Father engaged in repeated obstruction of 

the IEP process since December 2012, refused to cooperate in the agenda for convened 

IEP team meetings, refused to set aside his complaints to review Student’s progress or 

update his IEP, refused to attend the May 2013 meeting, and refused to attend any 

other IEP team meeting until the fall of 2013. In these circumstances, Father’s actions 

prevented District from meeting its legal obligations to Student in a timely manner. 

However, this did not entitle District to bypass the legal requirements to document 

detailed attempts to schedule the June 2013 IEP team meeting or entitle them to make 

no attempts whatsoever. Since District did not validly hold the IEP team meeting in the 

absence of Parents, the June 7, 2013 IEP developed at that meeting is voided.  

ISSUE 2(B): DURING THE 2012-2013 SCHOOL YEAR, DID DISTRICT 

PROCEDURALLY DENY STUDENT A FAPE BY DENYING PARENT MEANINGFUL 

PARTICIPATION IN THE DECISION-MAKING PROCESS BECAUSE IT CANCELLED OR 

TERMINATED IEP TEAM MEETINGS? 

28. Student contends that District unilaterally cancelled IEP team meetings 

during Student’s sixth grade school year, was unjustified in doing so, and the 

Accessibility modified document



41 

 

cancellations denied him a FAPE. District asserts that it was justified in discontinuing or 

cancelling those IEP team meetings when a required team member was absent, where 

Parents declined to participate, and where Father was not cooperative and obstructed 

the conduct of the meetings. 

Required Members of the IEP Team 

29. The IDEA and California education law require certain individuals to be in 

attendance at every IEP team meeting. In particular, the IEP team must include: (a) the 

parents of the child with a disability; (b) not less than one regular education teacher of 

the child, if the child is or may be participating in the regular education environment; (c) 

not less than one special education teacher, or where appropriate, not less than one 

special education provider of the child; (d) a representative of the school district who is 

knowledgeable about the availability of the resources of District, is qualified to provide 

or supervise the provision of special education services, and is knowledgeable about the 

general education curriculum; (e) an individual who can interpret the instructional 

implications of evaluation results, who may be a member of the team described above; 

(f) at the discretion of the parent or District, other individuals who have knowledge or 

special expertise regarding the child, including related services personnel as appropriate; 

and (g) whenever appropriate, the child with a disability. (20 U.S.C. § 1414 (d)(1)(B); Ed. 

Code, § 56341, subd. (b).) 

30. As found in the Factual Findings, District terminated and continued 

Student’s annual IEP team meeting on December 14, 2012, at Father’s request because 

he refused to cooperate to address Student’s annual program review, levels of 

performance, and rates of progress until Ms. Bryant, District’s director of special 

education, attended the meeting. District cooperated with Father, honored his request, 

and did not proceed to conduct the meeting. Thus, Student cannot establish a 

procedural violation for the continuance of that meeting. 
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31. District was justified in cancelling the January 2013 IEP team meeting when 

Student’s special education teacher and case manager fell, broke a rib, and required 

medical treatment. The law requires, not just a special education teacher to be present 

at the IEP team meeting, but the special education teacher of the pupil. Hence, District 

would have violated the law by going forward without valuable input from Ms. Odekirk 

during the meeting. She had taught Student since fourth grade and had great insight 

into his strengths, deficits, needs, and sensitivities. While there is a procedure for parents 

to provide written consent for the absence of a required team member, District was not 

required by law to offer this option to Parents. Given Ms. Odekirk’s experience, 

knowledge, and central role it would not have been reasonable to do so. There was no 

procedural violation. 

32. The IEP team meeting on March 1, 2013, went forward as scheduled and 

District members of the team attempted to reach the subject of Student’s performance, 

progress, and overdue IEP, but Father would not permit the discussion to take place as 

he argued about his complaints. Ms. Bryant unilaterally terminated the meeting due to 

Father’s lack of cooperation. Hence, Student’s assertion that the meeting was 

"cancelled" is technically incorrect. Since Father raised his claim about District breaching 

the 2011 settlement agreement in the December 2012 IEP team meeting, he did not 

offer any explanation for waiting until March 1, 2013, when he could have arranged to 

speak to Ms. Bryant in January or February instead. The heart of Father’s disagreement 

was his belief that Student was not academically prepared for middle school. Instead of 

adhering to District’s request to cooperate and conduct the IEP team meeting, and hear 

the information gathered by those who were teaching and working with Student, Father 

obstructed the meeting and would not refrain from the subjects of his accusations, in a 

confrontational and aggressive manner. Under these circumstances, after over an hour, 

District was justified in terminating the meeting. By then, Student’s annual IEP, required 
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by law, was almost three months overdue. However, Father did not permit the IEP team 

process to function. Since Father’s noncooperation obstructed the IEP process, Student 

forfeited any claim that the termination of the meeting denied him a FAPE. 

33. As for District’s cancellation of the IEP team meeting scheduled on May 24, 

2013, District had the option to continue to document attempts to communicate with 

Parents to encourage them to attend the meeting or negotiate a different date. Had 

they done so, they could have validly held the meeting in Parents’ absence under the 

law. Instead, District cancelled the meeting because Father refused to attend. In this 

circumstance, Student also forfeited the right to claim that cancellation of the meeting 

denied him a FAPE. 

ISSUE 3: BEGINNING ON SEPTEMBER 7, 2011, DID DISTRICT DENY STUDENT A FAPE 

BECAUSE IT LIED TO PARENTS ABOUT, OR MISREPRESENTED THE CONTENT OF A 

SEPTEMBER 2011 SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT AS IT RELATED TO STUDENT’S GRADE 

LEVEL? 

34. Student contends that District lied about or altered the contents of the 

2011 settlement agreement and thereafter misrepresented the actual content of the 

agreement as it related to Student’s grade level. District argues that Student’s claim is 

untrue. 

35. The proper avenue for enforcement of an agreement settling a special 

education due process dispute is by an administrative complaint to the California 

Department of Education. OAH had no jurisdiction to hear such a case. (Wyner v. 

Manhattan Beach Unified Sch. Dist. (9th Cir. 2000) 223 F.3d 1026, 1028-1029.) In Pedraza 

v. Alameda Unified Sch. Dist. (N.D.Cal., March 27, 2007, No. 05-04977) 2007 WL 949603, 

pp. 6-7,) the United States District Court for the Northern District of California held that 

OAH has jurisdiction to adjudicate claims alleging the denial of FAPE resulting from a 
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violation of a mediated settlement agreement, as opposed to "a mere breach" of the 

agreement.  

36. Student’s contention is not supported by the evidence. The evidence 

clearly supported District’s compromise with Father to settle his case in September 2011 

by agreeing to immediately assess Student and see if the data supported Father’s 

demand that Student should be retained in a lower grade. There is no evidence that Ms. 

Bryant or District lied about or misrepresented the content of the settlement agreement 

to Parents. 

37. It is clear that Father did not remember the content of the settlement 

agreement. He was only provided an English version of the agreement on the day of the 

settlement. Father offered no explanation as to why he did not assert this claim at the 

December 2011 IEP team meeting, when the events pertaining to the settlement were 

fresher in his mind. At that time, with the assistance of an interpreter, he understood 

that Student was going to stay in Ms. Odekirk’s class for the remainder of that school 

year, and consented to the IEP. Therefore, Student did not establish that District denied 

him a FAPE on this basis. 

Issue 2(c): During the 2012-2013 school year, did District procedurally 

deny Student a FAPE because it failed to provide effective interpreter 

services for Parents in connection with Student’s IEP team meetings? 

38. Student contends that during his sixth grade year, District denied Parents 

effective interpreter services for both oral and written translation in connection with 

Student’s IEP team meetings. District argues that it complied with the law in providing 

oral and written interpreter services because it always provided Parents with interpreters 

at Student’s IEP team meetings. District asserts that the law does not require it to 

provide a written Chinese translation unless Parents request it in writing, and that 

Parents have not done so.  
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INFORMED CONSENT AND TRANSLATION 

39. Local educational agencies "shall take any action necessary to ensure that 

the parent or guardian understands the proceedings at a meeting, including arranging 

for an interpreter for parents or guardians . . . whose native language is other than 

English." (Ed. Code, § 56341.5, subd. (i); see also 34 C.F.R. § 300.322(e).) The local 

educational agency shall also "give the parent or guardian a copy of the individualized 

education program, at no cost." (Ed. Code, § 56341.5, subd. (j); see also 34 C.F.R. § 

300.322(f).) California has clarified that the obligation to ensure that a parent or 

guardian understands the proceedings extends to the IEP documents themselves, which 

must be provided to the parent in his or her primary language upon request. (Cal. Code 

Regs., tit. 5, § 3040, subd. (b).)  

40. Informed consent is defined as consent obtained after the parent has been 

informed of all information relevant to the activity for which consent is sought in his or 

her native language. (Ed. Code, § 56021.1, subd. (a), emphasis added.)  

FORMAL WRITTEN OFFER 

41. The IEP developed at an IEP team meeting must contain a formal written 

offer. An IEP offer must be sufficiently clear that a parent can understand it and make 

intelligent decisions based on it. (Union School Dist. v. Smith, (9th Cir. 1993) 15 F.3d 

1519, 1526 (Union).) In Union, the Ninth Circuit observed that the formal requirements 

of an IEP are not merely technical, and therefore should be enforced rigorously. The 

requirement of a coherent, formal, written offer creates a clear record that helps 

eliminate factual disputes about when placements were offered, what placements were 

offered, and what additional assistance was offered to supplement a placement. It also 

assists parents in presenting complaints with respect to any matter relating to the 

educational placement of the child. (Id. at p. 1526). A failure to make a formal written 

FAPE offer has been held to be harmless error where parents were aware of District’s 
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offer as they fully participated in the IEP process. (J.W. v. Fresno Unified School District 

(9th Cir. 2010) 626 F.3d 431, 460-461 (Fresno).) 

42. The evidence established that District provided interpreters at the 

December 2012 and March 2013 IEP team meetings. Father participated in the IEP team 

meetings with the assistance of the interpreters. However, District’s June 2013 IEP was 

30 pages in length and was only provided to Parents in English. 

43. Father’s ability to follow some or all of the discussion in the IEP team 

meetings does not ensure that he has understood everything or would be able to 

accurately recall important details at a later date, particularly in lengthy, complex 

documents. The evidence did not establish that he understood sufficient English to 

understand District’s June 2013 offer without a written Chinese translation. 

44. District’s position that any parent should understand the provisions of the 

Parents’ Rights documents is not persuasive. While that form recites that parents have a 

right to receive "prior written notice" in their native language, it does not say that 

includes IEP documents. Prior written notice is a legal term of art. District’s claim that 

every IEP constitutes a prior written notice is incorrect. The contents of an IEP are 

governed by Education Code section 56345, and the contents of a prior written notice 

are governed by Education Code section 56500.4. They are different and some, but not 

all IEP’s contain sufficient information to qualify as a prior written notice. For example, 

section 56500.4 requires an explanation of why the public agency proposes or refuses to 

take action. In the June 2013 IEP, there is no explanation, in plain language Parents 

could understand, why Father’s request to retain Student in elementary school was 

refused. Only an expert skilled at reading (in his or her native language) the fine points 

of all the progress and assessment data could read between the lines and discern 

reasons. In addition, since Parents have a right to receive prior written notice in their 

native language, District’s assertion that they have to "ask" is also misplaced. Taken to its 
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logical conclusion, pupils with disabilities who have a right to a FAPE would never 

receive a FAPE unless they or their parents "asked" for the right to be implemented. 

45. While the California regulation cited above requires a school district to 

provide copies of IEPs in the native language of the parents if requested, that is merely a 

bottom-line regulatory requirement. That regulation cannot override the statutory 

requirement for informed consent. Informed consent is only achieved once the parent is 

informed of all relevant information in his or her native language. In cases where parents 

are non-English speaking individuals, if school districts could meet the requirement of 

ensuring their meaningful participation by only providing an interpreter at the meeting, 

the purpose of the law requiring translation of documents would be rendered 

meaningless. Parents are not required to try to remember everything discussed or 

decided upon at an IEP meeting, and are entitled to read and review the documents 

themselves. It is clear that Father did not recall or understand Student’s December 2011 

IEP, District’s assessment findings, the 2011 settlement agreement, or the June 2013 IEP 

because they were only provided to him in English. 

46. Parents are entitled to a written offer of the placement and services 

District proposes for Student. One of the purposes of the written offer is that it assists 

parents in presenting complaints with respect to any matter relating to the educational 

placement of the child. In addition, a formal written offer creates a clear record that 

helps eliminate factual disputes about what placements and services were offered, or 

why. These purposes would be defeated if Parents were not provided the written offer in 

their native language and in a timely manner. If Parents cannot read the written offer, 

then the requirements of Union would be rendered meaningless. 

47. Accordingly, District’s failure to provide Parents the June 2014 IEP in their 

native language resulted in a denial of FAPE because it denied Parents meaningful 

participation in the decision-making process.  
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ISSUE 3(A): DURING THE 2012-2013 SCHOOL YEAR, DID DISTRICT DENY STUDENT 

A FAPE BECAUSE HE DID NOT RECEIVE MEANINGFUL EDUCATIONAL BENEFIT? 

48. Student contends that District denied him a FAPE during sixth grade in the 

2012-2013 school year because he did not receive any meaningful benefit, and District 

denies this claim.  

49. As determined in Legal Conclusions 6 through 14, District did not deny 

Student a FAPE by denying him meaningful educational benefit in fifth grade. Student 

remained in Ms. Odekirk’s class and continued to make academic and functional 

progress during sixth grade at rates and levels commensurate with his assessed 

disabilities and deficits. Student accomplished much under the capable instruction of 

Ms. Odekirk and not only achieved material growth in his academic skills but also in his 

self-esteem, confidence, and social behaviors. There is simply no evidence that District 

has denied him a FAPE. 

ISSUE 3(B): DURING THE 2012-2013 SCHOOL YEAR, DID DISTRICT DENY STUDENT 

A FAPE BECAUSE IT FAILED TO PROVIDE OCCUPATIONAL THERAPY FROM JANUARY 

THROUGH JUNE 2013? 

50. Student contends that District failed to provide him a FAPE because it 

failed to provide any occupational therapy for him from January through June 2013. 

Student’s position is based solely on District’s failure to deliver to Student or Parents 

ongoing written documentation of the provision of the therapy.  

Failure to Implement an IEP 

51. When a school district does not perform exactly as called for by an IEP, 

District does not violate the IDEA unless it is shown to have "... materially failed to 

implement the child's IEP. A material failure occurs when the services provided to a 

disabled child fall significantly short of those required by the IEP." (Van Duyn v. Baker 
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School Dist. 5J (9th Cir. 2007) 502 F.3d 811, 815 (Van Duyn).) A brief gap in the delivery 

of services, for example, may not be a material failure. (Sarah Z. v. Menlo Park City 

School Dist. (N.D.Cal., May 30, 2007, No. C 06-4098 PJH) 2007 WL 1574569, p. 7.) There 

is no statutory requirement that a District must perfectly adhere to an IEP and, therefore, 

minor implementation failures will not be deemed a denial of FAPE. (Van Duyn, supra, 

502 F.3d 811, 820-822.) 

52. When Parents no longer received weekly documentation of Student’s 

occupational therapy, in the form of the occupational therapist’s log note for each 

session, Father assumed District had stopped providing the therapy but did not contact 

the provider or District to determine what happened.  

53. The log notes were produced at hearing, and the evidence established that 

the provider continued to faithfully deliver the services through July 2013, even though 

they had moved the services to the school campus and stopped providing copies of the 

logs to District and Student. District did not fail to implement Student’s occupational 

therapy services and there was no denial of FAPE. 

REMEDIES  

1. Student prevailed on Issue 2(a), as to the June 7, 2013 IEP team meeting, 

and Issue 2(c) in this case. As a remedy, Student requests that District be ordered to 

provide effective oral and written interpreter services to Parents in connection with 

Student’s IEP team meetings.  

2. Administrative Law Judges have broad latitude to fashion equitable 

remedies appropriate for the denial of a FAPE. (School Comm. of Burlington v. 

Department of Educ., supra, 471 U.S. at pp. 359, 370; Parents of Student W. v. Puyallup 

School Dist., No. 3 (9th Cir. 1994) 31 F.3d 1489, 1496.)  
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3. Given Father’s evident lack of understanding of District’s documents 

provided to him in English, District shall be ordered to provide Parents with timely 

Chinese translations of documents so long as Student is enrolled in District. 

ORDER 

1. District shall provide Student and Parents with effective oral interpreter 

services at all of Student’s IEP team meetings, and with timely written translations of 

Student’s IEP team meeting notices, IEP’s, assessments, and progress reports, and all 

District and/or SELPA prior written notices commencing with the 2013-2014 school 

year.11

11 As a result of this case, OAH has ordered Chinese translations of District’s 

Exhibits 3 and 5, along with Exhibit 2, the occupational therapy log notes.  

 

2 District’s June 7, 2013 IEP offer is voided. 

3. All of Student’s other requests for relief are denied. 

PREVAILING PARTY 

Education Code section 56507, subdivision (d), requires that the hearing decision 

indicate the extent to which each party has prevailed on each issue heard and decided. 

Student prevailed on Issues 2(a) and 2(c). District prevailed on all other issues in this 

case. 

NOTICE OF APPEAL RIGHTS 

The parties are advised that they have the right to appeal this decision to a state 

court of competent jurisdiction. Appeals must be made within 90 days of receipt of this 

decision. A party may also bring a civil action in the United States District Court. (Ed. 

Code, § 56505, subd. (k).) 
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Dated: January 16, 2014 

 

 

        /s/ 

DEIDRE L. JOHNSON 

Administrative Law Judge 

Office of Administrative Hearings 
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